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)




)
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)

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW


Pamela Palacios (Palacios) filed a complaint on July 7, 1999, seeking this Commission’s redetermination of the decision of the State Board of Nursing (Board) to deny her application for reinstatement as a licensed practical nurse (LPN).  Palacios argues that she is entitled to licensure because she has been rehabilitated since pleading guilty to drug offenses.


This Commission convened a hearing on the complaint on January 11, 2000.  Palacios presented her case.  Assistant Attorney General Charissa Watson represented the Board.  The parties waived the filing of written arguments.  The matter became ready for our decision on January 12, 2000, when the court reporter filed the transcript.
Findings of Fact

1. Palacios was licensed by the Board as an LPN on December 10, 1985.  Her nursing License No. PN037834 was current and active from December 10, 1985, until she allowed it to lapse on June 1, 1995.  

2. On June 10, 1994, Palacios was convicted on her plea of guilty in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri of the felonies of conspiracy to distribute cocaine and possession with intent to distribute cocaine in violation of 21 U.S.C. sections 841 and 846.  The court sentenced Palacios to 87 months in federal prison followed by 5 years of supervised release.  The court ordered Palacios to undergo substance abuse treatment and testing as a special condition of supervised release.  The general conditions of supervised release included the condition that Palacios “shall not purchase, possess, use, distribute, or administer any narcotic or other controlled substance, or any paraphernalia related to such substances, except as prescribed by a physician.”

3. Palacios successfully completed a 500-hour drug treatment rehabilitation program during her incarceration.  She worked as a sewing machine operator while she was incarcerated.  On July 27, 1998, she was transferred to a community sanction center (halfway house) where she worked as a machine operator in a plastics factory.  In November, 1998, she was released from the halfway house and completed her prison sentence on home confinement.  

4. On January 22, 1999, Palacios completed her period of incarceration and commenced her supervised release.  Her period of supervision is scheduled to end on January 21, 2004.

5. Palacios was employed as an instructor for a prevention program concerning adolescent pregnancy.  She is currently employed with an organization called “Mothers and Children Together” that promotes alternative sentencing and assists children of incarcerated parents.  In addition, Palacios is an advocacy coordinator for an organization called “Sisters-N-Company” that does inspirational speaking at homeless shelters.  

6. Palacios has complied with the conditions of her supervised probation.  She attends a support group for substance abusers, and she submits to drug tests every three months.  She has maintained sobriety during her probation.

7. On or about April 15, 1999, Palacios applied to the Board for reinstatement of her license as an LPN.  The Board denied her application. 

Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear Palacios’ complaint.  Sections 335.066.1 and 621.045.
  Palacios has the burden to show that she is entitled to licensure.  Section 621.120, RSMo 1994.  Palacios applied for reinstatement of a lapsed license pursuant to section 335.061 and 4 CSR 200-4.020(13)(D). 


We exercise the same authority that has been granted to the Board.  J.C. Nichols Co. v. Director of Revenue, 796 S.W.2d 16, 20 (Mo. banc 1990).  Therefore, we simply decide the application de novo.  State Bd. Of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. Finch, 514 S.W.2d 608, 614 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1974).


The Board alleges that Palacios’ license should be denied pursuant to sections 335.066.1 and 335.066.2(1), (2), and (14), which provide: 

1.  The board may refuse to issue any certificate of registration or authority, permit or license required pursuant to sections 335.011 to 335.096 for one or any combination of causes stated in subsection 2 of this section.  The board shall notify the applicant in writing of the reasons for the refusal and shall advise the applicant of his or her right to file a complaint with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621, RSMo. 

2.  The board may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621, RSMo, against any holder of any certificate of registration or authority, permit or license required by sections 335.011 to 

335.096 or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered his or her certificate of registration or authority, permit or license for any one or any combination of the following causes:

(1)  Use or unlawful possession of any controlled substance, as defined in chapter 195, RSMo, or alcoholic beverage to an extent that such use impairs a person’s ability to perform the work of any profession licensed or regulated by sections 335.011 to 335.096;

(2)  The person has been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution pursuant to the laws of any state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated pursuant to sections 335.011 to 335.096, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed; 

*   *   *

(14)  Violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government[.]  

The word “may” in section 335.066.1 means discretion, not a mandate.  Finch, 514 S.W.2d at 614.  The discretion is now ours.  Id. at 614-15.


Palacios admitted that she unlawfully possessed and used controlled substances.  She pled guilty to conspiracy to distribute cocaine and possession with intent to distribute cocaine in violation of 21 U.S.C. sections 841 and 846.  A guilty plea is an admission against interest and is ordinarily some evidence of the facts charged.  Mandacina v. Liquor Control Bd. of Review, 599 S.W.2d 240, 243 (Mo. App., W.D. 1980).  Cocaine is a Schedule II controlled substance.  Section 195.017.4(1)(d).  Based on her admissions, we conclude that Palacios unlawfully used and possessed controlled substances as defined in Chapter 195 and that her use of controlled 

substances impaired her ability to perform the work of a professional nurse in violation of section 335.066.2(1).


Palacios pled guilty in federal court to conspiracy to distribute cocaine and possession with intent to distribute cocaine.  Professional nurses have access to numerous controlled substances during the course of their work.  We conclude that Palacios pled guilty to offenses reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of a professional nurse in violation of section 335.066.2(2). 


Palacios admitted that she violated federal drug laws.  Her guilty plea and conviction is evidence of that violation.  We conclude that Palacios violated the drug laws of the federal government as described in section 335.066.2(14). 


Nevertheless, Palacios claims that she has rehabilitated herself and that she changed her life during her incarceration.  Unless the statutes on licensure provide otherwise, the fact of bad conduct and a guilty plea cannot preclude applicants from demonstrating that they have rehabilitated themselves.  State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. De Vore, 517 S.W.2d 480, 484 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1974).  Therefore, we consider the nature and seriousness of the original conduct that gave rise to the charge and guilty plea; the nature of the crime pleaded to and its relationship to the profession for which licensure is sought; the date of the conduct and guilty plea; the conduct of the applicant since then and since any release from imprisonment or probation; the applicant’s reputation in the community; and any other evidence relating to the extent to which the applicant has repented and rehabilitated.  Id.; Newman v. Director of Department of Public Safety, No. 95-002538 PO (Mo. Admin Hearing Comm’n Mar. 21, 1996).


Palacios claims that she changed her life from criminal activity to doing what is right.  She argues that she has successfully completed substance abuse treatment, has maintained sobriety during her probation, and has been rehabilitated. 


We must also consider the nature and seriousness of the original conduct that gave rise to the guilty plea, the nature of the crime pleaded to and its relationship to the nursing profession, 

and the date of the conduct and guilty plea.  The original conduct was serious because it involved not only the use of controlled substances, but also the conspiracy to distribute those substances.  The relationship of the conduct to the nursing profession is crucial because a nurse has access to many controlled substances.  Palacios pled guilty to the felonies on June 10, 1994.  She completed a 500-hour substance abuse treatment program prior to July 27, 1998, and she completed her period of incarceration on January 22, 1999.  She continues to receive substance abuse testing and continues to participate in a substance abuse support group.  Palacios’ probation will continue for an additional four years.  As a condition of her supervised release, Palacios cannot use, distribute, or administer any controlled substance except as prescribed by a physician.


Because of the seriousness of the offenses, the relationship of the offenses to the nursing profession, and the dates of the continued testing and treatment during probation, we conclude that Palacios’ application for reinstatement should be denied.  Palacios provided evidence that she has made progress towards rehabilitation.  Nevertheless, these facts show that it is too soon to judge whether Palacios’ present efforts at rehabilitation are temporary or will be of a permanent nature.  Therefore, pursuant to sections 335.066.1, and 335.066.2(1), (2), and (14), we deny Palacios’ application for reinstatement of her license as an LPN.


SO ORDERED on March 6, 2000.











________________________________



WILLARD C. REINE



Commissioner

�Statutory references are to the 1999 Supplement to the 1994 Revised Statutes of Missouri, unless otherwise noted.
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